IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

HOME WARRANTY ADMINISTRATOR OF NEVADA, INC. dba CHOICE HOME WARRANTY, a Nevada corporation,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY-DIVISION OF INSURANCE, a Nevada administrative agency,

Respondent.

Supreme Court No. 80218

First Judicial District Elizabeth A. Brown Case No. 17 OC 0026 Perk of Supreme Court

Appeal from First Judicial District Court, State of Nevada, Carson City The Honorable James. T. Russell, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Constance L. Akridge, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 3353
Sydney R. Gambee, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 14201
Brittany L. Walker, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 14641
HOLLAND & HART LLP

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRS 233B.150. The final judgment of the district court on HWAN's petition for judicial review was entered on November 25, 2019, with notice of entry served on November 26, 2019. The notice of appeal was timely filed with the district court on December 6, 2019.

ROUTING STATEMENT

While ordinarily an administrative agency matter would be presumptively assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(9), this case involves matters raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance, which should be retained by the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(12).

This appeal concerns statutory interpretation of NRS Chapter 690C's registration requirements, which affects the entire Nevada service contract industry. Namely, does NRS Chapter 690C require anyone other than a provider of service contracts to register with the Division of Insurance ("the Division") to sell service contracts? In other words, are sales agents required to be registered under NRS Chapter 690C as providers of service contracts even though they are not obligors under any service contracts? The answer to this question will have far-reaching consequences for the entire Nevada service contract industry, as many Nevada service contract providers use sales agents who are not registered as service contract providers under NRS Chapter 690C to sell service contracts on their behalf.

-

¹ Appellant's Appendix ("App.") Volume ("Vol.") VIII 1402-03; App.Vol.XIII 2519.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether HWAN was denied due process of law as required by NRS 690C.325, NRS 233B.127, and the Nevada Constitution when the Division imposed fines and deemed HWAN's certificate of registration expired on grounds not noticed in the complaint and failed to provide notice and a hearing prior to refusing to renew HWAN's certificate of registration.
- 2. Whether NRS 690C.150 requires *only* a "provider" of service contracts, which is specifically is defined in NRS 690C.070 as the obligor of the service contract, to hold a service contract provider certificate of registration.
- 3. Whether the doctrine of equitable estoppel precludes the Division's imposition of fines.
- 4. Whether the imposition of fines against HWAN for alleged violations of NRS 686A.070, NRS 690C.320, NRS 679B.125, and NRS 690C.325 is unsupported by Nevada law and substantial evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

This appeal arises out of a Division decision that was taken to the district court on judicial review. The hearing officer violated HWAN's due process rights by *sua sponte* basing her decision on factual allegations and legal theories of which HWAN had no notice prior to the hearing, including HWAN's use of an unregistered sales agent and alleged failure to make certain disclosures. This due process violation, combined with the hearing officer's misinterpretation of clear statutory language requiring only service contract providers to register with the Division, led to further errors in a case that involves an issue of great public importance—whether Nevada law requires anyone other than service contract providers, the obligors on service contracts, to register with the Division for protection of consumers.

II. Course of the Proceedings

A. The Administrative Proceedings.

HWAN is a service contract provider that has held a certificate of registration ("COR") in Nevada since 2010 pursuant NRS Chapter 690C.² In November 2016, HWAN filed its timely and complete renewal application for its COR with the Division ("2016 Application"), like it had done every November

1

² App.Vol.VIII 1380-85.

since 2011.³ The Division did not notify HWAN that its 2016 Application was denied until eight months later, when a Division employee e-mailed HWAN to inform it that its COR had "expired."⁴

Meanwhile, in May 2017, the Division filed a Complaint and Application for Order to Show Cause ("Complaint") against HWAN under Cause No. 17.0050 (the "Administrative Case") seeking to strip HWAN of its COR for allegedly violating the following: "NRS 686A.070 – falsifying material fact in any book, report, or statement; NRS 690C.325(1)(B) – conducting business in an unsuitable manner; and NRS 686A.310 - engaging in unfair practices in settling claims." The Division alleged that HWAN falsified material facts by not disclosing actions in other states against HWAN's administrator and sales agent, CHW Group, Inc. d/b/a Choice Home Warranty ("CHW"). In so doing, it treated CHW and HWAN as one entity despite the two being separate business entities.⁶ The Division further alleged that HWAN engaged in unfair practices in settling claims and conducted business in an unsuitable manner based on a number of Better Business Bureau, news, and media outlet complaints (such as Yelp and other review sites), along with some consumer complaints received by the Division.⁷ The Division finally

³ *Id.* 1384-85, 1404:18-19.

⁴ *Id.* 1385:8-12, 1404:19-25.

⁵ App.Vol.I 1.

⁶ See generally id. 1-9; App.Vol.VIII 1380-81, 1395-96.

⁷ App.Vol.I 2-7.

alleged that HWAN failed to make its records available to the Division despite a subpoena.8

The Division sought imposition of fines against HWAN, revocation of HWAN's COR, a cease and desist order against HWAN, and withholding of HWAN's security deposit. On September 5, 2017, the Division filed a nearly identical Amended Complaint and Application for Order to Show Cause ("Amended Complaint"), which clarified that HWAN had produced information in response to the Division's subpoena. 10

A hearing was held on September 12-14, 2017.¹¹ On December 18, 2017, Hearing Officer Alexia M. Emmermann, Esq. ("Emmermann") entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Order of Hearing Officer, and Final Order of the Commissioner (the "Administrative Decision"). 12 Emmermann did not find that HWAN had engaged in unfair practices in settling claims or conducted business in an unsuitable manner, the original allegations in the Complaint. 13 She also did not find that HWAN made false statements of fact in failing to disclose regulatory actions in other states against CHW on HWAN's applications. 14

⁸ *Id*.

⁹ *Id.* 7.

¹⁰ *Id.* 169-177.

¹¹ App. Vol. IV-VII 583-1270.

¹² App.Vol.VIII 1404-06.

¹³ *Id.* 1399-1400.

¹⁴ *Id.* 1396-97.

Emmermann instead imposed fines on HWAN primarily for using an administrator and sales agent (CHW) that did not itself hold a COR, which allegation was raised for the first time at the hearing. Emmermann incorrectly determined that "HWAN has been merely a figurehead, enabling an unlicensed entity to engage in the business of service contracts in Nevada under HWAN's license" and concluded that "CHW Group has engaged in the business of service contracts without a license." In so doing, Emmermann inexplicably ignored the Division-approved service contracts at issue, which state that registered service contract provider HWAN, not CHW, is the obligor of those contracts. 17

Emmermann imposed fines on HWAN totaling \$1,194,450 for 23,889 instances of CHW selling, issuing, or offering for sale service contracts. 18

Emmermann further imposed another \$30,500 in fines for alleged misrepresentations on HWAN's applications that it self-administered its contracts when CHW was HWAN's administrator, failure to disclose use of an unapproved service contract form, and failure to respond to requests for information from the Division. 19 Only the last alleged violation was noticed in the original Complaint

_

¹⁵ *Id.* 1400-03, 1405.

¹⁶ *Id.* 1403:16-18.

¹⁷ See generally id. 1381:24-1382:22; see also App.Vol.III 480-88.

¹⁸ App. Vol. VIII 1405.

 $^{^{19}}$ *Id*.

and Amended Complaint.²⁰ To excuse the failure of the Division to give notice of these alleged violations, Emmermann further found that the Division was not aware that HWAN and CHW were two separate entities until after the administrative proceedings began.²¹

Additionally, Emmermann chastised the Division for failing to notify
HWAN that its 2016 Application had been denied.²² She refused to revoke
HWAN's COR or issue a cease and desist order.²³ Rather, she deemed HWAN's
COR expired as a matter of law as of November 2016 and afforded HWAN an
opportunity to again submit a renewal application within 30 days of the
Administrative Decision.²⁴ She also ordered the Division to issue a decision on
any renewal application within 15 business days of receipt.²⁵ Finally, Emmermann
ordered that the Division could not "take action against [HWAN] for issuing,
selling, or offering for sale service contracts without a certificate of registration
from the date of [the Administrative Decision] plus 45 days."²⁶

_

²⁰ Compare App.Vol.VIII 1396-1405 with App.Vol.I 1-9, 169-177.

²¹ App.Vol.VIII 1395-98, 1400-03.

²² *Id.* 1404:1-1405:1.

²³ *Id*.

²⁴ *Id.* 1405:2-5.

²⁵ *Id.* 1405:5-6.

²⁶ *Id.* 1405:6-8.

B. The District Court Proceedings.

On December 22, 2017, HWAN filed a petition for judicial review of the Administrative Decision ("PJR") with the district court under Case No. 17 OC 00269 1B (the "PJR Case").²⁷ On January 16, 2018, HWAN filed a motion for stay of the Administrative Decision.²⁸ Although the district court denied the motion as untimely,²⁹ the Division and HWAN stipulated to interplead the Fines into the First Judicial District Court Clerk pending resolution of the PJR.³⁰

HWAN filed its Opening Brief on February 16, 2018.³¹ The Division filed its Answering Brief on March 19, 2018.³² HWAN filed its Reply Brief on April 11, 2018.³³

On April 19, 2018, HWAN filed a Motion for Leave to Present Additional Evidence pursuant to NRS 233B.131(2) ("Motion for Additional Evidence"), wherein HWAN sought leave to present exhibits that it had agreed in good faith to exclude from the underlying Administrative Case based on the Division's representations that the documents (which the Division produced to HWAN in

²⁷ App.Vol.VIII 1412-17.

²⁸ *Id.* 1471-486.

²⁹ *Id.* 1557-58.

³⁰ App.Vol.IX 1600-01. Pursuant to the District Court Order, those funds have now been released to the Division and HWAN. App.Vol.XIII 2520.

³¹ App.Vol.IX 1560.

³² *Id.* 1602.

³³ *Id.* 1644.

response to subpoena) were privileged, as these exhibits did not seem material at the time.³⁴ However, the exhibits demonstrate that the Division knew of the true separate business identities of HWAN and CHW and knew CHW was HWAN's administrator.³⁵ With the exhibits excluded, the Division then claimed at hearing it did not know HWAN and CHW were separate entities, which finding was adopted in the Administrative Decision.³⁶

On September 6, 2018, the district court entered an Order granting the Motion for Additional Evidence.³⁷ The Court remanded the issue to Emmermann to decide whether the proposed evidence was material, and if so, whether it would have impacted the final decision.³⁸ On October 31, 2018, Emmermann ordered the parties to submit additional briefing addressing why the Evidence was offered.³⁹ On November 13, 2018, HWAN submitted its Brief Regarding Exhibits KK, LL, and MM.⁴⁰ On November 20, 2018, the Division submitted its Opposition to HWAN's Proposed Exhibits KK, LL, and MM.⁴¹ On November 21, 2018, HWAN submitted its Reply.⁴² Emmermann concluded in her Order on Remand entered

_

³⁴ *Id.* 1663-671.

³⁵ See id.

³⁶ *Id.*; App.Vol.VIII 1401.

³⁷ App.Vol.IX 1732-35.

³⁸ *Id.* 1733:9-15.

³⁹ *Id.* 1736-37.

⁴⁰ *Id.* 1739-745.

⁴¹ *Id.* 1746-753.

⁴² *Id.* 1754-58.

January 22, 2019 that the proposed evidence was neither material nor would have impacted the final decision, but in so doing improperly adopted a heightened standard of materiality, as discussed *infra*.⁴³

With that, HWAN filed a Motion for Leave to File Supplemental Memorandum of Points and Authorities Pursuant to NRS 233B.133 and Amend the Record on Appeal ("Motion for Supplemental Briefing") in the district court, seeking to file additional briefing addressing the Order on Remand.⁴⁴ The Motion for Supplemental Briefing was granted,⁴⁵ and HWAN filed its supplemental brief on May 28, 2019,⁴⁶ with a response filed by the Division on August 8, 2019,⁴⁷ and a reply filed by HWAN on August 15, 2019.⁴⁸

A hearing on the PJR was set for November 7, 2019.⁴⁹ On November 5, 2019, the district court requested briefing from the parties regarding the legislative history of NRS 690C.325(1) and any relationship to NRS 690C.330.⁵⁰ On November 6, 2019, the parties filed their respective briefing.⁵¹

⁴³ *Id.* 1759-767.

⁴⁴ App.Vol.X 1802-1961.

⁴⁵ App.Vol.XI 2186-89. Initially granted as unopposed, the Division later opposed the motion and the district court granted the motion after receiving all briefing. App.Vol.X 1962-2023, 2170-194.

⁴⁶ App.Vol.XI 2024-2138.

⁴⁷ App.Vol.XII 2195-2209.

⁴⁸ *Id.* 2210-285.

⁴⁹ *Id.* 2292-94.

⁵⁰ See id. 2295:23-25.

⁵¹ *Id.* 2295-2383.

On November 7, 2019, the district court heard oral arguments on the PJR. Despite having obtained a ruling in the Administrative Case that "[b]y definition, an *administrator* should not be engaged in issuing, selling, or offering to sell service contracts," the Division took the position at the hearing that *any person* who offers for sale a service contract in Nevada, regardless of whether that person offers the service contract on behalf of a registered provider (i.e., as a sales agent), must hold a COR as a service contract provider. HWAN argued that only a provider, or obligor, of service contracts must be registered with the Division under the plain language of the statute, and that the legislative history supports this interpretation that only the provider be the "one stop shop" for regulation. 54

On November 25, 2019, the district court entered its Order Affirming in Part, and Modifying in Part, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Order of the Hearing Officer, and Final Order of the Commissioner in Cause No. 17.0050 in the Matter of Home Warranty Administrator of Nevada, Inc DBA Choice Home Warranty ("District Court Order"). The district court summarily determined HWAN was not denied due process, the Division was not estopped from stating that it did not know that CHW and HWAN were two separate entities or that CHW

_

⁵² App.Vol.VIII 1403:6-7 (emphasis added).

⁵³ See, e.g., App.Vol.XIII 2415:1-2416:2, 2429:19-2430:10.

⁵⁴ See, e.g., id. 2390:18-2394:18, 2403:9-2404:15, 2407:2-20, 2426:1-2429:16.

⁵⁵ *Id.* 2517-521.

was HWAN's administrator and sales agent, and adopted the Division's interpretation that any person who sells, offers for sale, or issues service contracts, regardless of whether this person is the obligor of said service contracts, must hold a COR as a provider pursuant to NRS 690C.150.⁵⁶ Among other things, the district court failed to reconcile the legislative history of the statute with its novel interpretation, or address the fact that HWAN is plainly the obligor on the service contracts issued to Nevada residents, not CHW.⁵⁷

On November 15, 2019, HWAN filed a Motion for Leave of Court Pursuant to FJDCR 15(1) and DCR 13(7) for Limited Reconsideration of Findings

Pertaining to HWAN's Petition for Judicial Review ("Motion for Reconsideration"). HWAN sought reconsideration solely on the legal issue of whether a sales agent who sells service contracts on behalf of a registered provider, but is not obligated under those service contracts, must be registered under NRS Chapter 690C. HWAN provided the district court evidence showing that the Division does not abide by its own interpretation of NRS 690C.150 as advanced at hearing, and allows other service contract providers to use unregistered sales agents to sell service contracts on their behalf. By the time HWAN filed its reply

5.

⁵⁶ *Id*

⁵⁷ Compare id. with App.Vol.VIII 1381:24-1382:22 & App.Vol.III 480-88.

⁵⁸ App.Vol.XIII 2456-494.

⁵⁹ *Id.* 2460:16-18.

⁶⁰ *Id.* 2461:3-13, 2469-470, 2481-494.

in support of its Motion for Reconsideration, the Division had taken the opposite position regarding sales agent registrations to the Service Contract Industry Council⁶¹ (the "SCIC").⁶² One day after the District Court Order, the Division told SCIC representatives that sales agents selling service contracts need *not* be registered.⁶³ HWAN included evidence of this flip-flop position of the Division with its reply,⁶⁴ but the district court nonetheless denied the Motion for Reconsideration.⁶⁵

III. Disposition

HWAN appeals from the Administrative Decision, Order on Remand,
District Court Order, and Order Denying Reconsideration.

The SCIC is a national trade association for the service contract industry, with members including providers and administrators of service contracts. Service Contract Industry Council *About* webpage, available at https://go-scic.com/about/ (last accessed May 12, 2020).

⁶² App.Vol.XIII 2543:26-2544:24.

⁶³ *Id.* 2555.

⁶⁴ *Id.* 2543:26-2544:24, 2555.

⁶⁵ App.Vol.XIV 2699-2701.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. The Division Conflates HWAN and CHW.

Since 2010, by contractual agreement, CHW has administered, marketed, and sold HWAN's service contracts, among other things.⁶⁶ CHW is not obligated under the service contracts sold on behalf of HWAN.⁶⁷ Only HWAN is the obligor of all service contracts, and only HWAN is registered as a service contract provider, i.e., obligor, in Nevada.⁶⁸ In 2011, the Division approved HWAN's form service contract that uses the "Choice Home Warranty" logo, explicitly states that the obligor is HWAN, and notes that the contract is administered by "Choice Home Warranty" (CHW).⁶⁹

Beginning in May 2013, the Division began investigating a consumer complaint against "Choice Home Warranty." According to the Division's witnesses at Administrative Case hearing, in 2013, the Division believed "Choice Home Warranty" was selling contracts in Nevada without a registration. Upon further investigation, the Division spoke with the President of HWAN, Victor Mandalawi, and for some reason determined that HWAN should register the d/b/a

⁶⁶ App.Vol.VIII 1381:4-16.

⁶⁷ *Id.* 1381:24-1382:22; App.Vol.III 480-88.

⁶⁸ Note 67, *supra*.

⁶⁹ *Id*.

⁷⁰ App.Vol.IV 612:1-10.

⁷¹ *Id*. 696:25-697:2, 697:16-18.

"Choice Home Warranty." This, despite the fact that HWAN's approved service contract form noted that HWAN is the *obligor* of the contract, while "Choice Home Warranty" (referring to CHW, the only entity operating under that d/b/a at that time, as a matter of public record) is the *administrator* of the contract. In fact, the Division was preparing to file a cease and desist action against "Choice Home Warranty" for acting as an unregistered service contract provider when it changed course to simply having HWAN also register the d/b/a "Choice Home Warranty."

More than three years later at the Administrative Case hearing, the Division would claim that it believed "Choice and HWAN were one and the same entity."⁷⁵ But at the time the Division requested HWAN register the d/b/a in 2014, the Division told HWAN that having just the name "HWAN" was confusing for customers. Thus, HWAN registered the d/b/a as requested. In return, the Division did not proceed with an action against "Choice Home Warranty," determining that "Choice was not selling illegally because HWAN was a licensed entity in Nevada." HWAN continued to be the provider (obligor) of all Nevada

⁷² *Id.* 697:19-23.

⁷³ App.Vol.III 480-88.

⁷⁴ App.Vol.VII 1198:6-25.

⁷⁵ See, e.g., App. Vol. VIII 1401:4-5.

⁷⁶ App.Vol.VI 1045:9-1046:3.

⁷⁷ See App.Vol.III 367-406; App.Vol.VIII 1395:24-25.

⁷⁸ App. Vol.III 374, 386; App. Vol.IV 699:14-15.

service contracts, which continued to be administered, marketed, and sold by CHW on behalf of HWAN, using the same form service contract approved by the Division in 2011.⁷⁹

Despite the Division's request that HWAN register the same d/b/a as CHW, the Division later conflated the two entities when it attempted to revoke HWAN's COR, in part, for *HWAN's* failure to disclose regulatory actions in other states against *CHW*.80

II. The Division Ignores HWAN's 2016 Renewal Application, Then Deems HWAN's COR Nonrenewed Despite Its Own Inaction.

On November 7, 2016, HWAN submitted the 2016 Application.⁸¹ The Division did not communicate with HWAN regarding the 2016 Application until February 1, 2017, when it purportedly sent an email to HWAN's president stating that the Division was "in the process of reviewing the Renewal Application" and requesting information regarding the number of open service contracts for HWAN.⁸² HWAN disputes receiving this email.⁸³

Meanwhile, an internal Division memorandum dated January 26, 2017 reveals the Division considered certain responses to questions on HWAN's 2016

⁷⁹ App.Vol.III 480-88.

⁸⁰ *Id.* 345-47.

⁸¹ App.Vol.VIII 1404:18-19.

⁸² App. Vol.III 321.

⁸³ App. Vol. IX 1597.

Application to be false.⁸⁴ The 2016 Application asked whether HWAN or any newly identified officers had been fined in other states.⁸⁵ HWAN truthfully answered no.⁸⁶ According to the Division memorandum, the Division considered this response untruthful because of regulatory actions against *CHW*, not HWAN.⁸⁷

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