IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Jun 25 2020 04:22 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

HOME WARRANTY ADMINISTRATOR OF NEVADA, INC. dba CHOICE HOME WARRANTY, a Nevada corporation, Case No. 80218

First Judicial District Court No. 17 OC 00269 1B

Appellant(s),

v.

STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY, DIVISION OF INSURANCE, a Nevada Administrative agency,

Respondent(s).

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Despite HWAN's best efforts to construct various purported issues for appeal and, at the same time, create a smokescreen to distract from its unlawful scheme that resulted in disciplinary actions in various states, the Administrative Decision on review in this case is valid, based on substantial evidence and law, and not affected by errors of law or unlawful procedure. It, therefore, should be affirmed.

What is at stake in this case, is the Commissioner's authority and ability to effectively regulate her licensees and to protect the public. This includes the ability to discipline those licensees who, like HWAN, engage in a pattern of deception, violations, and avoidance of regulatory oversight, and then seek to benefit from their own deceit.

Such is the case with the HWAN and CHWG scheme. CHWG is the actual entity conducting business, and HWAN– a one-person entity–is merely a figurehead in the arrangement, enabling an unlicensed entity to engage in the business of service contracts in Nevada under HWAN's certificate of registration. By simply incorporating and registering with the Division, HWAN, for years was able to avoid disclosure of CHWG's disciplinary actions in other states. Such information about the actual entity performing the functions of a provider in Nevada, namely selling, issuing, and offering for sale service contracts, is crucial for a regulator. Despite its false statements and active concealment of the existence of CHWG, HWAN now argues that the Division should have known of the scheme.

On the issue of the expiration of the certificate of registration, HWAN's assertion, despite clear evidence to the contrary, that its 2016 application was complete, is another example of the dishonest behavior that makes this entity impossible to regulate.

The Hearing Officer's findings of fact in this case are based on substantial evidence, and her legal conclusions and statutory interpretations are consistent with the language of the controlling statutes. HWAN's interpretation of the registration requirements leads to absurd results.

The Administrative Decision and the imposed fees should be affirmed unmodified.

V. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"[T]his court's function is the same as the district court: to determine, based on the administrative record, whether substantial evidence supports the administrative decision. Thus, this court affords no deference to the district court's ruling in judicial review matters." *Kay v. Nunez*, 122 Nev. 1100, 1105, 146 P.3d 801, 805 (2006) (citations omitted); s*ee also Nassiri v. Chiropractic Physicians' Bd.*, 130 Nev. 245, 248, 327 P.3d 487, 489 (2014) (citations omitted). The standard of review is codified in NRS 233B.135(3), and "the burden of proof is on the party attacking or resisting the decision to show that the final decision is invalid." NRS 233B.135(2).

"[F]actual findings will only be overturned if they are not supported by substantial evidence, which, we have explained, is evidence that a reasonable mind could accept as adequately supporting the agency's conclusions." *Nassiri*, 130 Nev. at 248, 327 P.3d at 489, citing *Elizondo v. Hood Mach. Inc.*, 129 Nev. 780, 784, 312 P.3d. 479, 482 (2013). If the administrative decision is based on substantial evidence, the Court may not substitute its judgment for the administrative determination. *Secretary of State v. Tretiak*, 117 Nev. 299, 305, 22 P.3d 1134, 1138 (2001).

The inquiry on appeal is, whether "the evidence on the whole record supports the appeals officer's decision . . ." *Ranieri v. Catholic Cmty. Servs.*, 111 Nev. 1057, 1061, 901 P.2d 158, 161 (1995). The Court may not "go beyond the administrative record or substitute its judgment for that of an administrative agency concerning the weight of the evidence on questions of fact." *Weaver v. Dept. of Motor Vehicles*, 121 Nev. 494, 498, 117 P.3d 193, 196 (2005), citing *United Exposition Service Co. v. SIIS*, 109 Nev. 421, 423, 851 P.2d 423, 424 (1993).

The Court reviews purely legal questions *de novo*; however, a hearing officer's conclusions of law "which will necessarily be closely tied to the hearing officer's view of the facts, are entitled to deference on appeal." *City Plan Development, Inc., v. Office of the Labor Comm'r*, 121 Nev. 419, 426, 117 P.3d 182, 187 (2005) (citations omitted). *See also Clements v. Airport Auth.*, 111 Nev. 717, 722, 869 P.2d 458, 461 (1995).

The Court defers to an agency's interpretation of its statutes, if such interpretation is within the language of the statute. *Dutchess Business Services, Inc. v. Nevada State Bd. of Pharmacy*, 124 Nev. 701, 709, 191 P3d 1159, 1165 (2008) (citations omitted). The Court recognizes the authority and the specialized skill and knowledge of an agency and, thus, the agency's authority to interpret the language of a statute that it is charged with administering. *Int'l Game Technology Inc. v. Second Judicial District Court*, 122 Nev. 132, 157, 127 P.3d 1088, 1106 (2006) ("as long as th[e] interpretation is reasonably consistent with the language of the statute, it is entitled to deference in the courts."). *See also Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe of Indians v. Washoe County*, 112 Nev. 743, 747, 918 P2d 697, 700 (1996) (citations omitted).

An administrative agency's decision based on a credibility determination is not open to appellate review. *See Brocas v. Mirage Hotel & Casino*, 109 Nev. 579, 585, 854 P.2d 862, 867 (1993). A court may not substitute its judgment for that of an agency acting within its statutory authority. *See Local Gov't Empl.-Mgmt*. *Relations Bd. v. General Sales Drivers, Delivery Drivers & Helpers, Teamsters Local Union No. 14*, 98 Nev. 94, 98, 641 P.2d 478, 480-481 (1982). See also City *Plan*, 121 Nev. at 426, 117 P.3d at 187.

An administrative agency's imposition of fines "are entitled to great deference to the extent that they were based upon the Board's interpretation of the evidence and testimony." *Dutchess*, 124 Nev. at 723, 191 P.3d at 1173.

B. THE ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION ON REVIEW IN THIS CASE IS VALID, BASED ON SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND LAW, AND NOT AFFECTED BY ERRORS OF LAW OR UNLAWFUL PROCEDURE AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED

1. The Notice Requirements for Administrative Proceedings Were Satisfied

In its Complaint, the Division alleged that HWAN dba Choice Home Warranty, failed to disclose various disciplinary actions against "Choice Home Warranty" in other states, thereby violating NRS 686A.070 by "making false entries of material fact in each of [HWAN's] renewal applications in the years 2011, 2012, 2014, and 2015."³⁴ The Complaint also alleged that HWAN was conducting business in an unsuitable manner, in violation of NRS 690C.325 (1)(b).

As a defense to the allegations of making false entries, HWAN argued that the disciplinary actions belonged to another entity, Choice Home Warranty Group, dba Choice Home Warranty, which was HWAN's administrator.³⁵ HWAN asserted in its pre-hearing statement:

However, the Division will be unable to show at the hearing of this matter that it was HWAN that was disciplined in each of those states or was the subject of any negative media. In fact, it was CHW Group, Inc. d/b/a Choice Home Warranty ("CHW"). *The evidence will unequivocally show that HWAN is an independent and separate entity from CHW*.

³⁶ (emphasis added). The Hearing Officer accepted HWAN's defense, and held that HWAN and CHGW would be considered by her as two, legally separate entities, and as such, HWAN was not obligated to disclose the administrative disciplinary decisions from other states against CHWG.³⁷ However, she found, that HWAN had deliberately concealed from the Division the existence of CHWG, and the fact that it was HWAN's administrator, by repeatedly making false entries of material fact in

- ³⁶ App. Vol. IV 503:8-13.
- ³⁷ App. Vol.VIII 1397:12-27

³⁴ App. Vol. I 174:13-15

³⁵ App. Vol. IV 503:8-18

its renewal applications, in violation of NRS 686A.070.³⁸ She expressly found, that Mandalawi repeatedly answered "self" when asked about HWAN's current administrator, and "no" when asked if there had been any changes to the administrator, designated in 2011 as "self."³⁹

As a result of its two-entity defense and the false statements on renewal applications pertaining to its administrator, revealed as a result of that defense, HWAN was found to have violated NRS 686A.070, by making false entries in its renewal applications. It was also found to be in violation of NRS 690C.325, for conducting business in an unsuitable manner, by using an unlicensed entity to perform the functions of a provider. HWAN now complains that "the Division failed to include the factual allegations forming the basis for violations ultimately adjudicated against HWAN."⁴⁰

a. HWAN Had Adequate Opportunity to Prepare and There Was no Unfair Surprise

³⁸ App. Vol. VIII 1398:2-19

 ³⁹ App. Vol. VIII 1383:1-9; App. Vol. II 192-203; App. Vol. III 298-322.
 ⁴⁰ HWAN's Opening Br. 35

In Nevada, parties in a contested case "must be afforded an opportunity for hearing after reasonable notice." NRS 233B.121(1).⁴¹ This Court has held, that in the context of administrative pleadings, due process requirements of notice are satisfied, where the parties are sufficiently apprised of the nature of the proceedings so that there is no unfair surprise. "The crucial element is *adequate opportunity to prepare*." *Nev. State Apprenticeship Council v. Joint Apprenticeship & Training Committee for the Electrical Industry*, 94 Nev. 763, 765, 587 P.2d 1315, 1316-17 (1978) (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Because HWAN first advanced the two-entity theory in response to the allegations of making false entries in failing to disclose its disciplinary actions, it had notice and opportunity to prepare any defense that such a theory would necessitate, especially for those violations that were formally noticed but supported by different facts. HWAN had ample opportunity to prepare, for it was HWAN, who, in its pre-hearing statement, filed on September 8, 2017, announced its intent to prove to the Division that HWAN dba Choice Home Warranty and

⁴¹ The requirements for notice include "[a] reference to the particular sections of the statutes and regulations involved, and "[a] short and plain statement of the matters asserted. If the agency or other party is unable to state the matters in detail at the time the notice is served, the initial notice may be limited to a statement of the issues involved. Thereafter, *upon application*, a more definite and detailed statement must be furnished." *Id.* HWAN never requested a more definite statement.

CHWG dba Choice Home Warranty, are two separate entities. In fact, this assertion first appeared even earlier, in a footnote to HWAN's Motion for Subpoenas, filed on July 14, 2017, two months before the hearing (held on September 12-14, 2017).⁴² There certainly was no unfair surprise to HWAN, except perhaps, that the ploy backfired.

In *State ex rel. Kassabian v. State Bd. of Medical Examiners*, 68 Nev.455, 467-468, 235 P.2d 327 (1951), this Court held, that the state board of medical examiners' departure from charge in complaint did not result in surprise or prejudice. "Regardless of the theory upon which the board may, erroneously, have commenced its hearing, its ultimate decision and order . . . was based upon 'the charges made in the complaint.' *"Id.*⁴³ Similarly, in this case, the Hearing Officer's findings were directly based on the charges formally noticed to HWAN, namely, making false entries in renewal applications, and operating in an unsuitable manner.

⁴² App. Vol. I 56: footnote 1

⁴³ See also Dutchess, 124 Nev. at 713 191 P.3d at 1167, (the licensees' argument that their due process rights were violated because the Board found them guilty of a charge not listed in the accusation was found to be without merit: "[t]he language in the accusation clearly and unambiguously notified Dutchess that it was charged with failing to provide accurate pedigrees, and the Board found Dutchess guilty of this charge."*Id.*

HWAN was sufficiently apprised of the nature of the administrative proceedings in this matter, had an opportunity to prepare, and "knew and had access to factual data" upon which the action was based. In fact, it knew, better than anyone else, what the true facts were, and it knew the allegations against it. HWAN had adequate opportunity to prepare and cannot claim unfair surprise. There was no due process violation and the findings were lawful and based on substantial evidence. As the Hearing Officer pointed out in her commonsensical conclusion, "Respondent cannot claim that HWAN and Choice Home Warranty are two separate entities and, in the same breath, conclude that Respondent had no notice of the Division's position that HWAN and Choice Home Warranty were considered one and the same entity, to avoid responsibility for violations of law that resulted from the very conclusion they advocated."⁴⁴

2. Nevada Law Requires a Certificate of Registration to Issue, Sell, or Offer for Sale Service Contracts

The Hearing Officer found that HWAN engaged in the practice of allowing its administrator—an unregistered entity—to issue, sell and offer for sale its service contracts in Nevada since 2010. She determined, that this amounted to conducting

⁴⁴ App. Vol. VIII 1401:14-19

business in an unsuitable manner, in violation of NRS 690C.325 and 679B.125. HWAN does not dispute that CHWG sold and offered for sale service contracts, but it claims that the Hearing Officer had misinterpreted the law.⁴⁵

a. NRS 690C.150 and 690C.020 Must Be Read in Harmony

NRS 690C.150 provides: "Certificate required to issue, sell or offer for sale service contracts. A provider shall not *issue, sell or offer for sale* service contracts in this state unless the provider has been issued a certificate of registration pursuant to the provisions of this chapter." (emphasis added). NRS 690C.020 defines "Administrator" as "a person who is responsible for *administering* a service contract *that is issued, sold or offered for sale by a provider*." (emphasis added).

The well-settled rules of statutory construction require that the court must, whenever possible, "interpret provisions within a common statutory scheme 'harmoniously with one another in accordance with the general purpose of those statutes' and to avoid unreasonable or absurd results." *Southern Nevada Homebuilders Ass'n v. Clark County*, 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005) (emphasis added) (citations omitted). " '[T]his court will read each sentence, phrase, and word to render it meaningful within the context of the purpose of the

⁴⁵ HWAN's Opening Br.44

legislation.' "*Harris Assocs. v. Clark County School District,* 119 Nev. 638, 642, 81 P.3d 532, 534 (2003) (citations omitted). It is clear, that NRS 690C.020 and 690C.150, read in harmony, establish that the scope of the functions of an administrator, is to *administer* contracts that are *issued*, or *sold by a registered provider*. In order to *issue, sell or offer for sale*, an entity must be *a registered provider*. CHWG, HWAN's purported administrator and an unlicensed entity, can only "administer" service contracts which are issued, sold and offered for sale by HWAN.

b. HWAN's Interpretation Would Lead to Absurd Results

HWAN's argument that the requirement of obtaining a certificate of registration before selling or offering for sale service contracts in NRS 690C.150, applies only to providers, would produce the absurd result of nullifying the statutory scheme, by effectively allowing anyone (except providers), to sell or offer for sale service contracts without a certificate of registration. HWAN argues, that the sole reason for the registration requirement is to ensure that the provider is vetted by the Division pursuant to NRS 690C.160⁴⁶ and posts the financial security required by

⁴⁶ Notably, as discussed later in this Brief, the language of NRS 690C.160(1) mirrors that of NRS 690C.150.

NRS 690C.170, and that "[s]uch is not necessary of anyone who sells the service contracts, so long as the obligor of the service contracts, the provider, is registered."⁴⁷ This is a policy argument that is unsupported by the language of the governing statutes or the legislative history.

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